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Introduction
2015-16 was a year of change for Kidney Research UK. Professor Tim Goodship completed his
term of office after three years as Chair. He played a key role in the charity’s increased
investment in research and strengthened our position in the kidney world. Professor John
Feehally became our new Chair and we welcomed new trustees, Federica Pizzasegola, Anna-Maria
Steel and Dr Charlie Tomson to the board.
Although slightly less than in the previous period, when we received a large legacy gift, our
income finished ahead of plan. We invested £760,000 more into our charitable activities, with our
contribution to research reaching a new high of £5.9 million. Within this, we continued to
manage two major directly-commissioned studies in anaemia treatment and early detection of
kidney disease and supported over 48 new career development, research and programme grants,
and joint awards.
Our intent to build renal research capacity was boosted by a significant gift from a major funder,
allowing us to launch a new themed call for research proposals. Towards the end of the year a
second large gift will enable us next year to commence a previously unfunded project in our
Making EVERY Kidney Count appeal.
We experienced some slower progress. We were unable to make the first Professor David Kerr
Clinician Scientist Award as no suitable applications were received, and our decision to launch a
new fellowship for nurses and allied healthcare professionals was delayed. These have been replanned for the next period.
In this report you can read about the strong progress across our broad research funding
programme and learn more about a handful of examples which we have highlighted here. There
have been further steps forward in our collaboration with pharmaceutical industry partners, in
our patient engagement, our public affairs work and our community initiatives to tackle health
inequalities. Public awareness of the charity and the kidney cause continues to rise.
A major highlight of the year was our project management of the first ever UK Renal Research
Strategy, developed in collaboration with professional associations and other kidney charities. As
we move ahead, this will inform the review of our own strategy and provide a touchstone for the
whole renal community.
However, with the future comes uncertainty. Although the charity has robust plans in place, we
face challenges including a toughening regulatory environment for fundraising and the extended
period of change in the political environments across the UK. We shall need to steel ourselves for
the years ahead.
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Professor John Feehally takes the helm
Professor John Feehally took over the role of Chair of Kidney
Research UK in September 2015. John is an Emeritus Consultant
Nephrologist and Professor of Renal Medicine at the University
Hospitals of Leicester. His own research over the last 30 years
has focused on a common kidney disease, IgA nephropathy. He is
a past President of the Renal Association and more recently of
the International Society of Nephrology (ISN). Through his current
role as Programs Chair for the ISN he remains actively committed
to supporting the growth of nephrology in the developing world.
John’s extensive experience in the renal world is enormously
valuable to the charity and a significant contribution to the
governance of the organisation.

Summary of our financial performance in 2015-16
Although our overall income was slightly less than in 2014-15, we were able to increase our
research and awareness expenditure by £760,000 to £7.4 million, representing a 14% increase
over the previous year’s total of £6.6 million. Our total income closed just under £9 million,
£200,000 less than the previous year, when an exceptional legacy gift was realised. Our general
reserves ended the year at £3.45 million.

Our vision, mission and strategy
Kidney Research UK’s vision is:

Lives free from kidney disease
Our mission is to:

Fund and deliver life-saving research into kidney diseases
Improve treatments for people with kidney diseases and
enhance their quality of life
and

Increase awareness of kidney health
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On the next page you can see the summary of our strategy which we last reviewed in 2014. The
strategy guides us in developing our top ten targets for each year and in this report you can read
about the targets we set ourselves last year, and how we did against them. In 2016 we intend to
undertake another review of our strategy, to check that it reflects the right priorities and
outcomes to support our overall mission.

Managing our risks
All charities face risks, so we have to identify and control them. The main risks we have to consider
are: risks to the delivery of our major projects, risks to our reputation and risks to raising enough
funds to achieve our strategic aims.
We control these risks by following recognised good practice in checking our compliance with the
law and other obligations, having clear and meaningful measures to check progress against our
goals and having a structure which enables us to take prompt action when necessary. The senior
management team and the trustees’ Finance and Risk Committee regularly review our exposure to
risk and ensure that we have adequate risk management systems in place.

A new ground-breaking study battling superbugs
Urinary tract infections (UTIs) affect approximately 50% of all women in
the UK. Kidney infections can occur if the UTI spreads to the upper
urinary tract, which can lead to permanent kidney damage. In rare cases
the infection can even become life-threatening. Worryingly, these
infections are becoming increasingly resistant to antibiotics, meaning
they are more difficult to treat and treatment options for UTIs are running
out.
Dr Rachel Floyd at the University of Liverpool is undertaking a three year
research project for Kidney Research UK, and aims to find new treatments
for UTIs. Dr Floyd hopes that her research will identify specific processes
that drug companies could explore when developing new treatments.
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Kidney Research UK Strategy

The kidney
health
problem

 Increasing CKD
 Increasing kidney failure
 Some groups at even
higher risk
 Avoidable kidney harm
 Low awareness of kidney
disease

 Treatment is expensive
 Poor quality of life on
dialysis
 Transplants only last a
few years
 Not enough donated
kidneys

 Lack of research evidence
 Not enough funding for
kidney research
 Not enough research
capacity
 Limited patient
involvement

Our Vision is: Lives free from kidney disease

Our
mission
is to:

Achieving
our mission
strategic
priorities

Enabled
through
income
generation

Leading to
strategic
outcomes
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Fund and deliver life-saving
research
into
kidney
diseases

Investing in research
 Support research
careers
 Build research
capacity through
collaboration

Attract and keep
new supporters

Improve treatments for
people
with
kidney
diseases and enhance
their quality of life

Answering key
questions
 Address
evidence gaps
in renal
research

Invest more of
every
pound
donated
into
research

 More people know about
kidney disease and the
risks
 More people are diagnosed
earlier
 People on dialysis live
better for longer

Increase awareness
kidney health

of

Working with
patients
 Involve patients in
design and
monitoring of
research

Raising
awareness
 Address health
inequalities
 Develop health
education

 More clinical trials

 Influence change

Attract funding from
organisational
partners

Deliver an excellent
supporter
experience

 More patients in clinical
trials
 The transplant waiting
list is getting shorter

 Transplanted kidneys
work better and last
longer

 We are developing
cures for some forms
of kidney disease

 We are delivering
breakthroughs that are
changing people’s lives
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Our vision, mission and strategy

TARGET 1
We set ourselves the challenge of increasing our investment in research to at least
£5.4 million in 2015-16, rising to £5.8 million by 2017-18. This investment would
allow us to award around 65 new research grants in the year, whilst overseeing
projects already in progress.

How We Did – achieved
We were able to significantly exceed our target for the year by investing £5.9 million in a
total of over 80 grants, commissioned research studies and contracts to deliver ongoing
projects.
The breakdown of this investment was as follows:
Three innovation grants
11 project grants
Four training fellowships
Four post-doctoral fellowships
Five joint awards with the International Society of Nephrology and the Medical Research Council
One PhD studentship
11 awards for intercalated degrees
Funding support for two scientific meetings
One supplementary award (by exception)
One programme grant under our Making EVERY Kidney Count appeal
Five John Feehally-Stoneygate Research Awards

Plus significant commitments into commissioned research studies, including the major
clinical trial on anaemia treatment (PIVOTAL), a project to identify people at greatest risk of
progressive kidney disease (ASSIST-CKD) and a new resource for research data (known as a
registry) on a type of polycystic kidney disease, known as ADPKD.
Our research portfolio was significantly enhanced by a major gift of £1.5 million over three
years. The awards under this funding are entitled The John Feehally-Stoneygate Research
Awards and are themed into three research areas in each call. Five awards were made in the
first year to support studies in glomerular disease.
Further growth in the portfolio was made possible through the trustees releasing £400,000
from our reserves, to add £100,000 (the first of a three year commitment) to the John
Feehally-Stoneygate Awards, £160,000 to our Making EVERY Kidney Count appeal and
£140,000 for an additional career grant.
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Our investment enables colleagues to answer research questions across the spectrum of
kidney diseases. For example, a grant of £200,000 is enabling Dr Tim Bowen and his team at
Cardiff University to investigate whether molecules, known as microRNAs, can predict the
progression of acute kidney injury (AKI). With a grant of £36,000, Dr Paul Hartley and his
team from the University of Bournemouth is studying how insulin in the humble fruit fly
affects cells in the kidney; the study could pave the way for improved treatments for diabetic
kidney disease. And Dr Qihe Xu and his team from King’s College London will use a grant of
£200,000 to study how proteinuria (protein in the urine), can lead to chronic kidney failure.
Dr Xu will focus on the kidney’s collecting ducts (tubules) where proteinuria blocks Vitamin
A, leading to kidney scarring and thereby, damage.

Are we closing the curiosity-led funding gap?
Our growth in investment in research has consistently increased over several years but we are currently only able
to fund just over half of the high quality research proposals that we wish to say ‘yes’ to. This is because the
demand for funding is increasing, driven in part by our introduction of grants for specific research areas, for
example, our Making EVERY Kidney Count appeal.
The graphic shows the funding ‘gap’ in 2015-16. The total value of fundable applications received (which does not
include our directed studies) was £6.06 million yet our funding in this area was £3.45 million, or 57%
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TARGET 2
We wanted to make the first grant under the new Professor David Kerr Clinician
Scientist Award scheme and introduce a new awards programme for renal nurses and
allied healthcare professionals to develop their careers in the renal field and build
more kidney research capacity.

How We Did – deferred
We were disappointed with our progress towards this target. We invited applications for The
David Kerr Award as planned but unfortunately the Medical Research Council (MRC), our
partners in this scheme, advised us that no fundable applications had been received. Rather
than miss the opportunity to fund new research in this biennial programme, we agreed with
MRC that we would promote the scheme again in 2016/17 as well as 2017/18, and opened
the call for applications before the end of the year.
Our new awards programme for allied healthcare professionals was also delayed. We had
hoped to pursue these in partnership but this was not possible. We therefore decided to run
the awards purely as a Kidney Research UK initiative and opened the call just before the end
of the year, with award decisions to be made in 2016-17.

Increasing research capacity
Over the last few years, Kidney Research UK has increased
the range of funding opportunities open to the renal
community, to build research capacity and accelerate our
understanding of kidney diseases. In 2016 we reintroduced a new fellowship scheme, designed to support
the development and retention of research skills amongst
nurses and allied healthcare professionals. The new
fellowship will be awarded in 2016-17.
“My multi-disciplinary Fellowship was a significant
milestone in my career and a life-changing experience for
me. For that, I will be forever thankful.”
Dr Lesley Lappin, Salford (Fellow 2011 – 2014).
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TARGET 3
We were due to complete the second year of the PIVOTAL intravenous iron clinical
trial and start the ASSIST-CKD project to identify people at greatest risk of kidney
failure in primary care. We also planned to work with clinical and industry colleagues
to design new strategic research projects for the future.

How We Did - achieved
The PIVOTAL clinical trial, led by Professor Iain Macdougall at King’s College Hospital,
progressed according to plan and recruitment of patients was very near the total target of
2,080 by the end of the year. We encountered difficulty with some costs within the NHS not
being covered as anticipated but reached a swift resolution to this. Our industry partner in
the trial, Vifor Fresenius Medical Care Renal Pharma, agreed to allocate additional funding to
ensure that the required nursing time could be covered for the duration of the trial.
The ASSIST-CKD project, supported by The Health Foundation, looks for early signs of
progressive kidney damage in patients by combining data from routine blood tests carried
out by GPs and hospitals, and using dedicated graphing software to help identify people who
are at greatest risk of progressing to kidney failure. The project started in July 2015 and will
involve 25 main renal units and 25 pathology laboratories and their surrounding GP
practices, covering an estimated population of 11-12 million people in England, Scotland,
Wales and Northern Ireland.
We continued to work with colleagues in the network of clinical study groups to develop new
research proposals to address evidence gaps. The role of the charity is to help facilitate this
development process with a view to funding the studies, often in collaboration with industry
partners, or providing expertise to help secure funding from other sources. The year saw
exciting new ‘pipeline’ projects emerging, the most significant being the future development
of a ‘biobank’ to assemble data and samples to provide a rich research resource to study
chronic kidney disease and nephrotic syndrome; many studies will be made possible by this
resource.

Kidney Research UK – the strategic partner of choice
Our commitment to partnership working was demonstrated at our first
ever Industry Day, named Achieving successful Partnerships. This forum
brought together major pharmaceutical companies, world-renowned
researchers and renal clinicians, leading academics, kidney patients and
UK renal charities. Co-chaired by Professors John Feehally and John
Bradley, the day resulted in a shared determination from delegates to
work together to accelerate progress, embed patient engagement,
share information more effectively, remove barriers to progress and
maximise collaboration.
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TARGET 4
We aimed to start the first two projects to accelerate transplantation research and
make a new call for applications under the Making EVERY Kidney Count appeal.

How We Did - achieved
The first project to be awarded through this appeal got underway in the year. Led by
Professor Mike Nicholson in Cambridge, a £740,000 new clinical trial will test the technique
of normothermic (warm) perfusion through a five-year transplant programme. The warm
perfusion system flushes donated kidneys with warm, oxygenated blood prior to
transplantation. Because the technique can reverse the damage caused by cold storage and
more accurately assess function prior to transplant, the study aims to make many more
kidneys available for transplant by drawing on marginal kidneys that otherwise would have
been discarded. We plan to transplant 360 patients in the trial, with 180 receiving kidneys
using the new system and 180 receiving kidneys from cold storage.
The second study also got underway. Led by Dr Fred Tam of Imperial College, London, an
award of £414,000 is enabling Dr Tam to investigate rejection following a kidney transplant
– caused by the recipient’s own immune system regarding the kidney as foreign and
attacking it. His work will evaluate whether a spleen tyrosine kinase (SYK) inhibitor (a
molecule that binds to the SYK enzyme and decreases its activity) may be a novel treatment
for antibody mediated rejection.
The call for the next round of applications was issued. At the end of the year, we were also
fortunate to secure a very generous gift from the Garfield Weston Foundation of £500,000 to
undertake a study to improve transplant opportunities for people whose immune systems
are highly sensitised. This funding will be allocated to a previously-submitted study in 201617.

A major treatment milestone
In 2015 the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) recommended the drug
tolvaptan as a treatment for some people with autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease
(ADPKD), the most common inherited kidney condition. This was a significant milestone as the
drug is the very first disease-modifying treatment for ADPKD. The journey to developing this
drug started back in 1984, when Dr Stephen Reeders, former registrar on the Oxford Renal Unit,
discovered and mapped the gene for polycystic kidney disease, with support from Sir David
Weatherall and Dame Kay Davies. At the time, Kidney Research UK saw the potential in Dr
Reeders’ work and with a grant of £25,000, enabled him to study the gene to see how its
mutations led to PKD.

“

There are probably 200 scientists working on kidney research today
that were drawn into the field because of work that got its start
because of that grant from Kidney Research UK Dr Stephen Reeders
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TARGET 5
We wanted to continue building on our strategic priority of patient and volunteer
engagement, increasing the number of patients who are supporting our study groups
and advisory body. We also wanted to introduce a system of financial support for
patient groups so they can meet and hear about research.

How We Did – on track
Through our volunteering team, we were able to increase the opportunities for patients to
play an active role in a range of Kidney Research UK’s activities. Patients represented the
charity at renal meetings and major professional events. They contributed their knowledge
and expertise to our public affairs programme by assisting submissions to consultations
carried out by bodies such as NICE and the Scottish Medicines Consortium. Our Patient
Involvement Co-ordinator engaged with patient groups, visiting Kidney Patient Association
meetings and securing articles in their newsletters. Although we would have liked to have
made more rapid progress in recruiting patients to formalised study groups, over 50 patient
roles are filled, with many more patients helping us with other aspects of our work.
We were delighted to be able to provide funding for the North East and North Cumbria
Kidney Patient and Family/Carer Day in Newcastle and agreed both financial and
administrative support for a second IgA Nephropathy patient day. In preparing our budget
for 2016-17, we increased the amount of funding we can make available to support patientled research events.

Research report launched at the House of Lords
Parliamentarians from across the political spectrum were united in their support for the launch of
our report into renal research in the UK, which took place at the House of Lords in January. The
report, entitled Renal research: from a pioneering past to a positive future for kidney patients,
celebrates breakthroughs in recent and ongoing research, and clearly lays out ways in which
politicians can take action to support further progress.
At the reception, which was hosted by Lord Sharkey, our
researchers described their work to MPs and peers, who
also heard from patients and their families about the
difference research can make to their lives.
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TARGET 6
We decided to undertake a review of our health inequalities work and expand our
successful peer educator model to engage with more ‘at risk’ communities. We also
wanted to identify the research questions to be addressed to understand why certain
groups are at greater risk of kidney diseases.

How We Did – deferred, some aspects on track
Our results here were mixed. Our review of the health inequalities work was delayed and we
have re-planned the review to take place in 2016-17, so that it can inform our strategy in this
area. Identifying research questions is integral to this project and we will be engaging expert
colleagues to undertake a full review of the research literature to identify the evidence gaps.
We will use this to inform our research strategy, along with the UK Renal Research Strategy in
which the need to understand reasons for increased risk amongst Black, Asian & Minority
Ethnic (BAME) communities is identified as a priority.
Our community work through our multi award-winning peer educator model continued to
build throughout the year. The peer educator initiative was set up originally to educate and
empower members of BAME communities about the importance of kidney health, then later
about organ, bone marrow and blood donation, and to assist in removing the taboos within
these communities about organ donation. Our peer educator project in Birmingham, funded
by the Department of Health, was successful and extended to help us establish a more
sustainable model for undertaking this work. In Scotland, our organ donation project was
extended in a similar way. More new projects came on stream, including a living donation
project and another in which our peer educators are helping patients to make informed
choices about their dialysis treatment. This last example combines our expertise in
community engagement with our previous work on decision making, using our popular
Dialysis Decision Aid to help patients choose the right treatment to suit their circumstances.
Finally, we were proud to see the evidence base for the effectiveness of the peer educator
model published in the peer-reviewed Clinical Kidney Journal.
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TARGET 7
We wanted to continue raising awareness of kidney disease and Kidney Research UK
amongst the general public by further increasing our media coverage and on-line
engagement. We planned to invest in profiling the charity at a range of professional
events, and through our public affairs work increase the number of parliamentarians
and policy makers who engage with us.

How We Did – on track
We had a successful year in our media work, securing significant coverage for the charity and
kidney disease awareness. One highlight was the BBC Lifeline Appeal, presented by Lauren
Laverne, featuring our transplantation research. We secured around 900 mentions in print,
online and broadcasts. Some of this coverage gave us very wide reach indeed, with the
potential audience reach topping 18.6 million in July 2015 (BBC Lifeline) and 23.2 million in
March 2016 (around World Kidney Day). Our social media following continued to rise, with
some posts securing very high levels of engagement and our website attracted consistently
increasing numbers of visitors. We have more work to do here though so that our online
offering is more engaging and visitors stay on our site for longer.
We attended over 30 professional conferences, meetings and exhibitions and spoke with a
wide range of audiences including patients and healthcare professionals; our aim was not
only to profile the important work of the charity but also to widen knowledge of kidney
disease itself. To support the face-to-face meetings we have continued to develop our
professional communications both online and offline, securing articles in key titles within the
renal community.
Our public affairs work accelerated during the year, with two parliamentary receptions, one
in Glasgow and one in the House of Lords, where we launched our report, Renal Research:
from a pioneering past to a positive future for kidney patients. We engaged with the health
ministers for Scotland and Wales and, having previously met the Parliamentary Under
Secretary of State for Public Health, Jane Ellison, we were delighted to receive a letter of
congratulation from her on winning an award for our health inequalities work.
Overall, we saw awareness of Kidney Research UK rise in the year, with our prompted
awareness rising by two percentage points to 45% i.e. the percentage of people in a public
survey who had heard of the charity.

Our award-winning peer educator teams
Over two million people in Scotland have joined the NHS Organ Donor Register but just 2,000 of
those people are from BAME communities.
The Scottish Government commissioned us to undertake an organ donation awareness project
among the South Asian Communities in Glasgow & the West of Scotland in 2014 and subsequently
funded the charity for a further year of work
because of the impact the project had achieved. Our
Scottish peer educator team enjoyed further
success when they accepted the Community Award
at the Scottish Asian Business Awards.
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TARGET 8
Working with colleagues in the renal world, we planned to support the production
and launch of the UK Renal Research Strategy.

How We Did - achieved
The UK Renal Research Strategy was developed under the umbrella of the UK Kidney
Research Consortium which includes leading kidney charities and professional associations.
Kidney Research UK provided the project management to the steering group which led,
authored and consulted on the emerging strategy.
This was a real ‘first’ for the renal world, a strategy that outlined evidence gaps and research
priorities contained within overarching strategic aims and recommendations. It will provide
an essential touchstone for our charity and as we move forward with our own strategy
review, we will check that our direction is consistent with the aims of this ground-breaking
document.
We were successful in securing ministerial backing for the strategy from George Freeman MP,
then Parliamentary Under Secretary of State for Life Sciences, who provided the foreword to
the publication.

A first for the kidney community
Two years in development, the UK Renal Research Strategy
outlines aims and recommendations to improve the health
and welfare of kidney patients through research. Driving the
project for the UK Kidney Research Consortium, Kidney
Research UK undertook a leading role in developing the
strategy and gained valuable endorsement from the
Parliamentary Under Secretary of State for Life Sciences. The
strategy was launched in April 2016.

Page 15

Annual Report and Financial Statements – March 2016
Annual Report – Chair and CEO Statement (including the strategic report)

Gary Froy’s Challenge 271
Every year, thousands of people take on personal challenges to
raise as much money as possible for Kidney Research UK. Gary
devised his Challenge 271 in memory of his dad Colin who died in
December 2013 after “many years of trauma from kidney failure”.
271 was Colin’s police collar number so Gary ran three marathons
and cycled to reach a total of 271 miles, raising over £22,000 for
Kidney Research UK. As Gary said, “I hope the money raised will go
some way to helping find a cure for kidney related diseases, in
order that other families don’t have to suffer as we have.”

TARGET 9
To help us reach our aim of funding more than half of the quality fundable research
proposals put to us, we intended to grow our income to £9.8 million over the next
three years, raising a minimum of £8.6 million in 2015-16.

How We Did - achieved
We exceeded our target by raising £8.99 million, ahead of our budget by £320,000, albeit
slightly below the previous year. The final result represents a combination of growth in some
areas and underperformance in others.
We saw our income for commissioned research and other projects rise. The PIVOTAL clinical
trial attracted increased funding to cover clinical nurse time, and our ASSIST-CKD project saw
increased activity. We also added a new health inequalities project in Birmingham, we
implemented the John Feehally-Stoneygate Research Awards and we moved £400,000 from
our reserves to increase our research investment, as detailed earlier. At the end of the year, a
significant gift of £500,000 from the Garfield Weston Foundation boosted income for the
Making EVERY Kidney Count programme.
Our fundraising faced unprecedented challenges in the year caused by the sudden changes
to fundraising codes of practice, following the negative media attention on the charity
sector. This severely impacted our telephone-based fundraising and we swiftly changed our
mix of fundraising activities so that we could still engage with as many of our supporters as
possible. Our fundraising practices are of a high standard and respect our supporters’
contact preferences; it was inevitable however that the new fundraising guidelines negatively
impacted our fundraising income.
We had put a lot of work into our events programme to ensure an improved supporter
experience and to reduce our costs of running the programme. This produced £64,000 more
net income from this area of our fundraising. Our small retail chain also performed very well
in the year.
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Legacies are important to many charities and we are no exception. People who remember us
in their will help us to forward plan our investment in research and this year, these essential
gifts contributed £2.2 million to our income. However, our future income growth planning is
also quite sensitive to the impact of very large gifts.
We are so grateful to these generous supporters for helping us to grow and sustain our work
and we need to continue to make our case to future funders, so that our trajectory remains
upward.

TARGET 10
We want to keep doing everything as effectively as we can. We aimed to hold our
investment in research at the target of 76 pence in the pound or above, with 24
pence or less going to raise the next pound. We also wanted to protect the quality
and integrity of our work, across every aspect of what we do.

How We Did - achieved
We were pleased to beat the target we set ourselves and achieved 77.8 pence in the pound
being invested in our charitable activities, with 22.2 pence going to raise the next pound.
We are a relatively small charity that has an impact greater than our size would suggest and
we therefore cannot easily absorb large fluctuations in our income and costs without
affecting our cost ratio. We have enjoyed good growth over previous years but this is wholly
dependent on the generosity of our supporters. We have seen in this year a major change in
fundraising self-regulation and we will need to invest for future improvements in our ability
to raise funds. We also want to ensure that the quality of what we do and the welfare of our
staff and volunteers is not compromised by cutting costs below the levels needed to remain
effective.

A research breakthrough in Membranous
Nephropathy
Scientists at the University of Manchester and Central
Manchester University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
made a significant breakthrough in the fight against
Membranous Nephropathy – a rare disease which can lead
to kidney failure. Through building a three dimensional
model of the protein that is attacked by the disease, they
worked out how to create a ‘decoy’ to attract antibodies
and this opens up the possibilities for two new types of
treatment.
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What we plan to do in 2016-17: the top ten
TARGET 1
We plan to invest just over £6 million into research and award at least 52 career and research
grants, with further investment in site and laboratory contracts to support ongoing projects.
We will also implement our new awards for nurses and allied healthcare professionals, and
award the David Kerr Fellowship.

TARGET 2
We will reach the target patient recruitment and commence follow-up for the intravenous
iron clinical trial (PIVOTAL) and bring on new sites for the project to identify people at
greatest risk of kidney failure (ASSIST-CKD); we will also complete a study into the health
benefits of using intravenous iron in patients with advanced chronic kidney disease.

TARGET 3
We aim to start two major projects working with pharmaceutical industry partners –
establishing a data and tissue sample biobank and developing a new joint fellowship
initiative.

TARGET 4
We will review our strategy in 2016-17 and support the implementation of the UK Renal
Research Strategy. We will confirm the strategic priorities for the charity, taking into account
the outcome of both the new patient survey and the Priority Setting Partnership work with
the James Lind Alliance on Transplantation. Our plans will also reflect our response to the
key research themes that emerged from the renal community in the UK Renal Research
Strategy.

TARGET 5
We will complete a fundamental review of our work in health inequalities, and commission a
project to identify important research questions that should be addressed to understand
better why certain groups are at greater risk of kidney disease.

TARGET 6
We will aim to further increase awareness of the charity’s work and of kidney disease
amongst the general public and healthcare professionals, and continue to increase our
influence amongst decision-makers and policy leads.

TARGET 7
We will improve the experience that all supporters, volunteers, patients, donors, funders and
researchers have when they engage with us. We will develop a programme of enhanced
experience that will lead to more people helping us in more ways.
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BBC Lifeline Appeal
Radio and TV presenter Lauren Laverne told the nation about our Making EVERY Kidney Count
appeal when she hosted the influential BBC Lifeline Appeal, a 10-minute TV programme which was
broadcast on BBC One and BBC Two in July. Kidney disease is a subject Lauren cares about deeply
after her father developed kidney failure quite
recently. Lauren’s support helped us to raise
over £26,500 from the programme and
increase awareness of kidney disease and
Kidney Research UK’s work.

TARGET 8
We will plan for changes in our income over the next three years to reflect the completion of
some major projects. We want to raise a total income of £9.8 million in 2016-17 and
undertake a review of our reserves policy to achieve the right balance between investing in
research and providing for a sustainable future.

TARGET 9
We want to invest in development opportunities for our staff and volunteers so that the
charity can meet the challenges of future years.

TARGET 10
Whilst ensuring the quality of what we do, we aim to invest 77 pence in every pound into our
charitable activities, with 23 pence going to raise the next pound. We will continue to
measure our progress and work as effectively and efficiently as we can, as we plan for a cost
ratio for future years that ensures the health and future stability of the charity.

Professor John Feehally MD MA DM FRCP
Chair

Sandra Currie
Chief Executive
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The trustees present their statutory report together with the consolidated financial
statements of Kidney Research UK and its subsidiary company for the year ended 31 March
2016.
The report has been prepared in accordance with Part VIII of the Charities Act 2011 and the
Companies Act 2006.
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting policies set
out on pages 37 to 43 and comply with the charity’s memorandum and articles of
association, applicable laws Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of
Recommended Practice applicable to charities preparing their accounts in accordance with
the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the United Kingdom and Republic of Ireland
(FRS 102), effective from accounting periods commencing 1 January 2015 or later.

Financial Review
Income
Income at £8.99 million exceeded plan although this represented a decrease of £171,155
(2%) on the previous year. Legacy income in 2014/15 was exceptionally high at over
£3.3million due to a couple of significantly large legacy gifts. This income stream normalised
in 2015/16 at £2.2 million.
Our income from charitable activities, most of which funds commissioned research, more
than doubled on the previous year. The PIVOTAL clinical trial attracted increased funding to
cover clinical nurse time, our ASSIST-CKD project experienced increased activity and
£500,000 was received to implement the first of three annual John Feehally-Stoneygate
Research Awards. In March, a significant gift of £500,000 from the Garfield Weston
Foundation boosted income for the Making EVERY Kidney Count programme.
Despite these successes our fundraising faced unprecedented challenges in the year caused
by the sudden changes to fundraising codes of practice, following the negative media
attention on the charity sector. This severely impacted our telephone-based fundraising
activity which we significantly reduced, with a negative impact on the income raised through
this method.
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Financial Review (continued)
Operating expenditure
Operating expenditure decreased by £229,345 to £2.26 million. Different approaches in
some areas of fundraising reaped the expected benefits of reduced costs and efficiencies but
the main reduction in expenditure resulted from reduced telephone fundraising activity due
to changes in the fundraising codes of practice. Funds available for investment in charitable
expenditure reached 77.8 pence in every pound raised, an increase of one pence over the
previous year. Further commentary on this can be read under Target 10 of the Chairman and
CEO’s report.

Charitable expenditure
Charitable expenditure reached £7.39 million in the year, an increase of £759,648 (11%)
arising from a £771,478 increase in research and a small decrease of £11,830 in raising
awareness and education. Most of this increase came from the release from reserves of
£400,000 for research. Details of this expenditure can be found in the Report from the Chair
and Chief Executive found on pages 3 to 19 of this document.

Public Benefit
In reviewing aims, objectives and planning future activities, the trustees have taken into
account the Charity Commission’s guidance on public benefit. The trustees ensure that the
activities undertaken are in line with the aims of Kidney Research UK.

Year-end reserves and reserves policy
Total reserves at the end of the year totalled £9.2 million (£10.4 million 2014/15). At the
end of 2014/15 trustees committed an additional £400,000 from general reserves for the
2016/17 year above that previously budgeted to ensure reserves were within the benchmark.
Of this, £3.5 million is a general reserve and £5.2 million is a designated fund. The
designated fund holds funds identified for expenditure on research, excluding the element
which will be met by restricted funds, and some allowance for operational commitments. The
designated fund relating to charitable expenditure will be committed within 18 months of
the year end.
During the year under review the benchmark for general reserves was in the range of nine
months’ to one year’s charitable expenditure planned for the coming year. General reserves
ended the year at 5.6 months’ charitable expenditure (9.26 months 2014/15) and therefore
below the benchmark. The year-end position falling outside the current benchmark would
have meant action required to meet the benchmark.
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Financial Review (continued)
Year-end reserves and reserves policy (continued)
This prompted a review, under the direction of the Finance and Risk Committee, of the
suitability of the benchmark for reserves. It was agreed that the core requirements for the
charity’s general reserves are:
a) to cover a period of continuity for key operations in the event of an emergency which
interrupts all funding; and
b) to cover the eventual winding up costs of the charity should that become necessary.
This review concluded that the most appropriate way of benchmarking the charity’s general
reserves is against operating expenditure rather than direct charitable expenditure, as
identified research commitments are already held in the designated fund. It was agreed that
the benchmark for periods after the 2015/16 year would be 9 to 12 months’ operating
expenditure. As stated above, general reserves at March 2016 were below the agreed
benchmark. However, under the new measurement general reserves were at 18 months’
operating expenditure. Therefore, using this more appropriate measure meant there was no
requirement to increase the level of general reserves.

Investment performance and policy
Reserves are supported by the charity’s investment portfolio which is actively managed and
monitored by the Finance and Risk Committee. Income earned is reinvested into charitable
expenditure.
Cazenove Capital Management Ltd was retained in the year to manage the charity’s
investments so as to maximise long-term total return from our investments at an appropriate
level of risk. We do not invest directly in tobacco related funds. During the year the Finance
and Risk Committee completed a formal review of fees charged, annual income required, risk
profile and benchmarks of the investment portfolio. Following that review, trustees agreed
to continue to spend the majority of income earned from investments on charitable
expenditure.
Income of £375,670 came from the portfolio in the 2015/16 year, the majority of which was
designated for charitable expenditure in 2016/17.
By 31 March 2016 the value of the portfolio had decreased to £13,907,743, generating an
unrealised loss of £331,815. At close of business on 26 September 2016, the last business
day before approval of these accounts, the investments have a market value of £14,945,734.
This represents a rise in value of £1,037,991 since 31 March 2016.
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Employees
The charity aims for all our people to work effectively together.
During the year employees participated in an independently managed on-line staff survey.
The results showed significant improvement in most areas from the previous one held two
years earlier. This showed staff’s approval of the actions taken since then. The results of this
year’s survey compared very favourably with other charities also surveyed and highlighted
the elements of working for Kidney Research UK which staff enjoy as well as forming
priorities for future attention.
We positively support development of all employees both on a personal and professional
level and aim to offer appropriate training to all employees. In addressing these priorities we
have benefited greatly from pro bono support provided by both Birdsong Charity Consulting
and BTBusiness’s continuous improvement team. The charity has budgeted an increase in
training investment in 2016/17.
The Kidney Research UK policy on remuneration (pay and benefits) is guided by the following
principles:
1. Fairness to employees, supporters and general public
2. Ability to recruit and retain the appropriate calibre of staff to deliver strategic outcomes
3. Recognition and reward for contribution to the charity
4. Compliance with current legislation
5. Recognises best practice in the charity sector including transparency to staff and other
stakeholders
The charity benchmarks salaries on a regular basis with the latest exercise completed just
after the year end. This resulted in small salary adjustments for a couple of roles.

Risk management
The Senior Management Team identifies and records risks to our reputation, to that of the
charity sector as a whole and for significant projects, in risk registers. This is considered an
effective way for trustees to evaluate significant risks to the charity, to establish the degree
to which the risks are controlled and moderated, and to determine necessary action. Over
the course of the past year the Finance and Risk Committee reviewed risks to the charity and
the charity’s risk registers in detail and shared their views with the Board of Trustees.
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Risk management (continued)
The main risks to the charity are: risks to delivering major projects, risks to our reputation
and risks to raising enough funds to achieve our strategic aims. Individuals within the Senior
Management Team take responsibility for these risks which are mitigated by monitoring our
compliance with regulatory obligations, having clear and meaningful measures to check
progress against agreed goals and having a structure which alerts the charity to changes in
risks and facilitates prompt action when necessary.

Structure, Governance and Management
Constitution
Kidney Research UK is constituted as a company limited by guarantee, Company Registration
No. 00905963, and is registered for charitable purposes with the Charity Commission,
Charity Registration No. 252892 and Scottish No. SC039245. The charity is governed by its
Memorandum and Articles of Association. In the event of the charity being wound up,
company members are each required to contribute an amount not exceeding £1.

Connected entities
The charity has a wholly owned subsidiary company, Kidney Research Enterprises Limited,
Company Registration No.2932606 which undertakes trading and retail activities for the
benefit of Kidney Research UK.

Trustees
The following trustees were in office during the year and served throughout the year except
where indicated.
Trustees
Professor Tim Goodship BSc MD FRCP (Chair)
Professor John Feehally (Chair) MA DM FRCP
Jan Cooper
Professor Fiona Karet PhD FHEA FRCP FMedSci
Lorna Marson MB BS MD FRCSEng FRCSEd
Dr Ashok Patel
Iain Pearson
Federica Pizzasegola
David Prosser
Tracey Rose
Anna-Maria Steel
Andrew Tripp
Dr Charlie Tomson MA BM BCh FRCP DM
Pieter van Aswegen
Professor Adrian Woolf MA MD
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Retired from Chair June 2015, retired 24th September
2015
Appointed Chair June 2015
Retired 14th February 2016

Appointed 24th September 2015
Retired 9th March 2016
Appointed 24th September 2015
Appointed 9th March 2016
Retired 12th October 2015

Annual Report and Financial Statements – March 2016
Report from the trustees

Structure, Governanace and Management (continued)
Trustees (continued)
Twelve to fourteen trustees balancing experience and expertise is considered by the trustees
to be the optimal composition of the Board. The trustees set the strategy of the charity and
oversee its implementation. The Chief Executive is responsible for the implementation of this
agreed strategy working with the rest of the Senior Management Team.
During the year, four meetings of the full Board take place, which members of the senior
management attend, as appropriate. Records of trustee attendance are maintained and
reviewed by the Chair on a regular basis and appropriate action taken, if required.
The Chair and Senior Management Team monitor the mix of skills and experience on the
Board and the rotation of members. A skills audit will be carried out in the new financial year
to ensure trustee skills are used to the best advantage of the charity and to inform future
recruitment to the Board. Trustees are subject to rotation on a three year basis. After six
years’ continuous service, a trustee may only be re-elected by permission of the Board. At
the end of the trustee’s service, he/she is not eligible for re-appointment at any time.
External training as well as internal familiarisation is provided throughout the period of
service. Trustees are encouraged to apply their specific skills and experience to relevant
areas in the charity.
As covered in the Chairman and CEO’s Report there were several retirements and
appointments made to the Board during the year.
Professor Tim Goodship served just over six and a half years as trustee, and as chair for
three years and under his stewardship the charity achieved strong growth in direct charitable
expenditure. Tim retired from the Board in September 2015. John Feehally who has been a
trustee for over a year was appointed chair in June 2015. A short description of John can be
found in the Chairman and CEO’s Report on page 4.
Tracey Rose retired from her trusteeship at the end of the year after completing two terms.
Her contribution to the charity will continue through her role as Patient Lead in the ASSIST
CKD project.
Jan Cooper and Peter van Aswegen retired from their roles as trustees in February 2016 and
October 2015 due to changes in their personal circumstances. The trustees are very
appreciative of the support of the charity shown by the departing trustees.
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Structure, Governanace and Management (continued)
Trustees (continued)
The Board was delighted to welcome three new trustees to the charity who were recruited
from the patient, medical and business communities using a range of methods including
advertising. Formal applications were sought and prospective members were interviewed by
a panel of trustees and members of the Senior Management Team. During the year we were
delighted to welcome Anna-Maria Steel, Dr Charlie Tomson and Federica Pizzasegola. You
can
read
more
about
our
newly
appointed
trustees
on
our
website
www.kidneyresearchuk.org.

Committees

Trustee Board

Lay Advisory
Committee

Research Strategy
Committee (RSC)

Research Grants
Committee (RGC)

Finance and Risk
Committee (F&R)

Remuneration
Committee

As shown above, four committees made up of experts and advisors, make recommendations
to the Board of Trustees. Each committee is supported by formal terms of reference, key
points of which are:


The Research Strategy Committee. In the year the Chair of the charity led a review of the
role of this committee. It was confirmed that this committee’s role is to support trustees
in setting the strategic focus for research funding. Members include the Chair of the
Research Grants Committee, Chair of Trustees and a number of other trustees. The Chief
Executive and the Director of Research Operations are also members. The chair of this
committee must be a trustee.
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Structure, Governanace and Management (continued)
Committees (continued)


The Research Grants Committee. This committee comprises experts in renal medicine
and patient representation. Applications for funding are formally peer reviewed and
prioritised, by quality of science, before this committee makes their funding
recommendation to the full Board of Trustees. In all instances where there is a conflict of
interest, the committee member will be excluded from the discussion and decision.



The Finance and Risk Committee monitors the charity’s performance against an approved
budget and three-year Business Plan. This committee also monitors and advises trustees
on areas of risk. This is achieved by carrying out a rolling detailed review of the risks of
the charity recorded in a risk register. The committee also reviews performance against
an agreed set of benchmarks. This is an area for further development in 2016/17. The
members comprise three trustees with appropriate financial, investment and business
skills, the Chief Executive and Finance Director. The Chair of this committee must be a
trustee.



The Remuneration Committee, a sub-committee of the Finance and Risk Committee has a
duty to review and recommend to trustees:




Kidney Research UK’s overall approach to remuneration including:
o

Relative position within the relevant labour market

o

Employee benefits including pension provision

the remuneration of the Chief Executive in the context of:
o

Market rates

o

Personal performance

o

Relative size, scope and complexity of the role

o

Affordability

The committee is responsible for approving the framework used by the charity to
benchmark and monitor remuneration and for reviewing and approving salary and
benefit packages available to employees of the charity including key members of staff.
The members are the Chair of the Board of Trustees, Chair of the Finance and Risk
Committee, who also chairs this committee, and the Chief Executive.
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Structure, Governanace and Management (continued)
Committees (continued)
The role of the Lay Advisory Committee which, under formal terms of reference, advises the
charity and trustees on issues affecting kidney patients. Members are actively engaged in
many areas of the charity including consultation responses, recruitment of patient
representatives on clinical trial groups, protocol development and promoting research
through their networks. The committee normally comprises one ex-officio trustee and
approximately twenty independent advisors.
The Board of Trustees elects the Chair of the Board of Trustees, Chair of the Finance and
Risk and Remuneration Committees, Chair of the Research Strategy Committee and a
number of independent ex-officio Chairs, including: Chairs of the Lay Advisory Committee
and Chair of the Research Grants Committee.
All instances where a trustee may have a conflict of interest are conducted at arm’s length
and in accordance with the Charity’s normal procedures.

Key management personnel
The trustees consider that they, together with the Senior Management Team, comprise the
key management of the Charity in charge of directing and controlling, running and operating
the Charity on a day to day basis. The Senior Management Team of the Charity comprises:
the Chief Executive, Directors of Finance, Research Operations, Communications and
Development and Heads of: Fundraising and Human Resources. The remuneration of the
Senior Management Team is monitored by the Remuneration Committee and benchmarked
against independent external data on a bi-annual basis.
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Statement of trustees’ responsibilities
The trustees (who are also the directors of Kidney Research UK for the purposes of company
law) are responsible for preparing the trustees’ report and the financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).
Company law requires the trustees to prepare financial statements for each financial year
which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the charity and the group and of the
income and expenditure, of the group for that period.
In preparing these financial statements, the trustees are required to:


select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;



observe the methods and principles in Accounting and Reporting by Charities Statement
of Recommended Practice applicable to charities preparing their accounts in accordance
with the Financial Reporting Standard applicable to the United Kingdom and Republic of
Ireland (FRS102);



make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;



state whether applicable United Kingdom Accounting Standards have been followed,
subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;
and



prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to
presume that the charity will continue in operation.

The trustees are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the charity and group and enable
them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006, the
Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 and the Charities Accounts (Scotland)
Regulations 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the charity and
group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and
other irregularities.
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Statement of trustees’ responsibilities (continued)
Each of the trustees confirms that:


so far as the trustee is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the charity’s
auditor is unaware; and



the trustee has taken all the steps that he/she ought to have taken as a trustee in order
to make himself/herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the
charity’s auditor is aware of that information.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of
s418 of the Companies Act 2006.
The trustees are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial
information included on the charity’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing
the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in
other jurisdictions.

Approved by the trustees on 27 September 2016 and signed on their behalf by:

Professor John Feehally MD MA DM FRCP
Chairman
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Independent auditor’s report to the trustees and members
of Kidney Research UK
We have audited the financial statements of Kidney Research UK for the year ended 31 March
2016 which comprise the consolidated statement of financial activities, the consolidated and
parent charity balance sheets, the consolidated statement of cash flows, the principal
accounting policies and the related notes. The financial reporting framework that has been
applied in their preparation is applicable law United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), including FRS102, the Financial Reporting
Standard applicable in the United Kingdom and Republic of Ireland.
This report is made solely to the charity’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3
of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and to the charity’s trustees as a body, in accordance
with Section 44(1)(c) of the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 and
Regulation 10 of the Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006. Our audit work has
been undertaken so that we might state to the charity’s members and trustees those matters
we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the
fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other
than the charity, the charity’s members as a body and the charity’s trustees as a body, for
our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of trustees and auditor
The trustees are also the directors of the charitable company for the purposes of company
law. As explained more fully in the Statement of trustees’ responsibilities set out in the
Report from the trustees, the trustees are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view.
We have been appointed as auditor under section 44(1)(c) of the Charities and Trustee
Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 and under the Companies Act 2006 and report in accordance
with regulations made under those Acts.
Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).
Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s (APB’s) Ethical
Standards for Auditors.
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Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free
from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment
of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the group’s and the parent charitable
company’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the trustees; and the overall
presentation of the financial statements. In addition, we read all the financial and nonfinancial information in the report from the trustees, strategic report and the report from the
Chairman and Chief Executive to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial
statements and to identify any information that is apparently materially incorrect based on,
or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing
the audit. If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we
consider the implications for our report.

Opinion
In our opinion the financial statements:


give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and the parent charitable company’s
affairs as at 31 March 2016 and of the group’s income and expenditure, for the year
then ended;



have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice; and



have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006, the Charities and
Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 and regulations 6 and 8 of the Charities
Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended).

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion the information given in the Report from the trustees and the Report from the
Chairman and Chief Executive including the strategic report for the financial year for which
the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements.
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Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006
and the Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended) requires us to report
to you if, in our opinion:


the group has not kept proper and adequate accounting records or returns adequate for
our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or



the group’s financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records or
returns; or



certain disclosures of trustees’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or



we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Katharine Patel, Senior Statutory Auditor
for and on behalf of Buzzacott LLP, Statutory Auditor
130 Wood Street
London
EC2V 6DL

6 October 2016

Buzzacott LLP is eligible to act as an auditor in terms of section 1212 of the Companies Act
2006
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Notes

Unrestricted
funds
£

Restricted
funds
£

2016
Total
funds
£

2015
Total
funds
£

1
2
3
4

5,279,372
1,046,571
375,670
93,256

—
—
—
2,194,301

5,279,372
1,046,571
375,670
2,287,557

6,681,248
1,035,104
378,833
1,065,140

Total income

6,794,869

2,194,301

8,989,170

9,160,325

Expenditure
Cost of raising funds
. Costs of raising donations and legacies
. Fundraising trading: cost of goods sold
and other costs

1,731,048

—

1,731,048

1,850,267

490,793
35,811
2,257,652

—
—
—

490,793
35,811
2,257,652

604,391
32,339
2,486,997

4,398,009
1,359,604

1,550,276
79,597

5,948,285
1,439,201

5,176,807
1,451,031

5,757,613

1,629,873

7,387,486

6,627,838

8,015,265

1,629,873

9,645,138

9,114,835

(1,220,396)

564,428

(655,968)

45,490

(538,184)

—

(538,184)

577,815

Income and expenditure
Income
Donations and legacies
Other trading activities
Investment income
Income from charitable activities

. Investment management costs
Expenditure on charitable activities
. Research
. Awareness and education

Total expenditure

5

Net (expenditure) income before
(losses) gains on investments
Net (losses) gains on investments

13

Net (expenditure) income and net
movement in funds for the year

(1,758,580)

564,428 (1,194,152)

623,305

Reconciliation of funds
Fund balances brought forward
at 1 April 2015

10,412,178

14,582 10,426,760

9,803,455

Fund balances carried forward
at 31 March 2016

8,653,598

579,010

9,232,608 10,426,760

All of the group’s activities were derived from continuing operations during the above two
financial periods.
All recognised gains and losses are included in the above consolidated statement of financial
activities.
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Group*
2015
£

2016
£

2015
£

12
122,375
13 10,137,445

175,997
11,023,504

115,668
10,287,445

164,548
11,173,504

10,259,820

11,199,501

10,403,113

11,338,052

44,394
4,291,328
3,770,298
2,445,146

36,171
4,583,532
3,077,776
1,203,842

—
4,206,284
3,770,299
2,117,237

—
4,468,557
3,077,776
1,057,237

10,551,166

8,901,321

10,093,820

8,603,570

Notes
Fixed assets
Tangible assets
Investments
Current assets
Stocks
Debtors
Investments
Cash at bank and in hand
Liabilities:
Creditors: amounts falling due
within one year

14
15
13

16

Net current assets
Total assets less current
liabilities
Creditors: amounts falling due
after one year

17

Net assets
The funds of the charity
Restricted funds
. Action for Alports Campaign
. Other restricted funds
Unrestricted funds
. Designated funds
. General funds**

Charity

2016
£

(7,945,847)

(6,682,181)

(7,812,955)

(6,701,324)

2,605,319

2,219,140

2,280,865

1,902,246

12,865,139

13,418,641

12,683,978

13,240,298

(3,632,531)
9,232,608

18
18

19

(2,991,881)
10,426,760

(3,632,531)
9,051,447

(2,991,881)
10,248,417

(49,953)
628,963

(76,315)
90,897

(49,953)
628,963

(76,315)
90,897

579,010

14,582

579,010

14,582

5,202,425
3,451,173
9,232,608

5,364,379
5,047,799
10,426,760

5,202,425
3,270,012
9,051,447

5,364,379
4,869,456
10,248,417

*These financial statements consolidate the results of the charity and its wholly owned
subsidiary, Kidney Research Enterprises Limited.
**The trustees have reviewed the charity’s reserves policy during the year and a new policy
has been implemented from 1 April 2016. Further details are provided on page 22 of the
Report from the trustees.
Approved by the Board of Trustees
and signed on their behalf by:

Professor John Feehally MD MA DM FRCP
Chairman of Kidney Research UK
Company Registration Number
00905963 (England and Wales)
Approved on: 27 September 2016
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Notes
Cash flow from operating activities:
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

2016
£

A 1,238,208

2015
£
(826,243)

Cash flow from investing activities:
Dividends and interest from investments
Purchase of tangible fixed assets
Proceeds from the disposal of investments
Purchase of investments
Net cash provided by investing activities

375,670
394,273
(27,927)
(56,705)
2,840,481 1,470,543
(2,617,332) (1,653,171)
570,892
154,940

Change in cash and cash equivalents in the year

1,809,100

(671,303)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April 2015

B 2,618,678

3,289,981

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 2016

B 4,427,778

2,618,678

Notes to the statement of cash flows for the year to 31 March 2016.
A

Reconciliation of net movement in funds to net cash provided by (used in) operating
activities
2016
£

2015
£

Net movement in funds (as per the statement of financial
activities)
(1,194,152)
623,305
Adjustments for:
Depreciation charge
81,549
66,387
Losses (gains) on investments
538,184
(577,815)
Dividends and interest from investments
(375,670)
(378,833)
(Increase) decrease in stocks
(8,223)
14,861
Decrease (increase) in debtors
292,204 (2,087,188)
Increase in creditors
1,904,316 1,513,040
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
1,238,208
(826,243)

B

Analysis of cash and cash equivalents

Cash at bank and in hand
Cash held by investment managers
Total cash and cash equivalents
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2016
£

2015
£

2,445,146
1,982,632
4,427,778

1,203,842
1,414,836
2,618,678
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The principal accounting policies adopted, judgements and key sources of estimation
uncertainty in the preparation of the accounts are laid out below.

Basis of preparation
These accounts have been prepared for the year to 31 March 2016.
The accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention with items recognised
at cost or transaction value unless otherwise stated in the relevant accounting policies below
or the notes to these accounts.
The accounts have been prepared in accordance with Accounting and Reporting by Charities:
Statement of Recommended Practice applicable to charities preparing their accounts in
accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the United Kingdom and
Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) (Charities SORP FRS 102) issued on 16 July 2014, the Financial
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) and the Charities
Act 2011.
The charity constitutes a public benefit entity as defined by FRS 102.
The accounts are presented in sterling and are rounded to the nearest pound.

Reconciliation with previous Generally Accepted Accounting Practice
In preparing the accounts, the trustees have considered whether in applying the accounting
policies required by FRS 102 and the Charities SORP FRS 102 a restatement of comparative
items was needed.
In accordance with the requirements of FRS 102 a reconciliation of the opening balances and
net income for the year is provided with the net income under previous GAAP adjusted for
the presentation of investment gains as a component of reported income:

Reconciliation of reported income:
Net income as previously stated
Adjustment for gains on investments now treated as a component of
net income
2015 net income as restated
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2015
£
19,547
603,758
623,305
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Critical accounting estimates and areas of judgement
Preparation of the accounts requires the trustees and management to make significant
judgements and estimates.
The items in the accounts where these judgements and estimates have been made include:


estimating the liability for multi-year grant commitments;



estimating the useful economic life of tangible fixed assets;



estimating the probability of the receipt of legacy income and estimating the amount to
be received.

Assessment of going concern
The trustees have assessed whether the use of the going concern assumption is appropriate
in preparing these accounts. The trustees have made this assessment in respect to a period
of one year from the date of approval of these accounts.
The trustees of the charity have concluded that there are no material uncertainties related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the ability of the charity to continue
as a going concern. The trustees are of the opinion that the charity will have sufficient
resources to meet its liabilities as they fall due. The most significant areas of judgement
that affect items in the accounts are detailed above. With regard to the next accounting
period, the year ending 31 March 2017, the most significant areas that affect the carrying
value of the assets held by the charity are the level of investment return and the performance
of the investment markets (see the investment policy and the risk management sections of
the trustees’ report for more information).

Basis of consolidation
These financial statements consolidate the results of the charity and its wholly owned
subsidiary, Kidney Research Enterprises Limited, on a line by line basis. A separate
statement of financial activities and income and expenditure account are not presented by
the charity itself following the exemption afforded by section 408 of the Companies Act
2006.

Income recognition
Income is recognised in the period in which the charity has entitlement to the income, the
amount of income can be measured reliably and it is probable that the income will be
received.
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Income recognition (continued)
Income comprises donations, income from trading activities, income from charitable
activities and investment income.
Donations are recognised when the charity has confirmation of both the amount and
settlement date. In the event of donations pledged but not received, the amount is accrued
for where the receipt is considered probable. In the event that a donation is subject to
conditions that require a level of performance before the charity is entitled to the funds, the
income is deferred and not recognised until either those conditions are fully met, or the
fulfilment of those conditions is wholly within the control of the charity and it is probable
that those conditions will be fulfilled in the reporting period.
In accordance with the Charities SORP FRS 102 volunteer time is not recognised.
Donated goods are normally distributed very soon after receipt by the charity. Stocks of
donated goods held at the reporting date are immaterial. Under these circumstances, the
cost of valuing all donated goods upon receipt by the charity outweighs the benefit to the
users of the accounts of providing this information. Consequently, donated goods are
included within income when sold or distributed and no value is placed on stock of such
items at the year end.
Legacies are included in the statement of financial activities when the charity is entitled to
the legacy, the executors have established that there are sufficient surplus assets in the
estate to pay the legacy, and any conditions attached to the legacy are within the control of
the charity.
Entitlement is taken as the earlier of the date on which either: the charity is aware that
probate has been granted, the estate has been finalised and notification has been made by
the executor to the charity that a distribution will be made, or when a distribution is received
from the estate. Receipt of a legacy, in whole or in part, is only considered probable when
the amount can be measured reliably and the charity has been notified of the executor’s
intention to make a distribution. Where legacies have been notified to the charity, or the
charity is aware of the granting of probate, but the criteria for income recognition have not
been met, then the legacy is treated as a contingent asset and disclosed if material. In the
event that the gift is in the form of an asset other than cash or a financial asset traded on a
recognised stock exchange, recognition is subject to the value of the gift being reliably
measurable with a degree of reasonable accuracy and the title of the asset having being
transferred to the charity.
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Income recognition (continued)
Grants from government and other agencies have been included as income from charitable
activities where these amount to a contract for services, but as donations where the money is
given in response to an appeal or with greater freedom of use, for example monies for core
funding.
Dividends are recognised once the dividend has been declared and notification has been
received of the dividend due.
Interest on funds held on deposit is included when receivable and the amount can be
measured reliably by the charity; this is normally upon notification of the interest paid or
payable by the bank.

Expenditure recognition
Liabilities are recognised as expenditure as soon as there is a legal or constructive obligation
committing the charity to make a payment to a third party, it is probable that a transfer of
economic benefits will be required in settlement and the amount of the obligation can be
measured reliably.
All expenditure is accounted for on an accruals basis. Expenditure comprises direct costs
and support costs. All expenses, including support costs, are allocated or apportioned to the
applicable expenditure headings. The classification between activities is as follows:


Expenditure on raising funds includes all expenditure associated with raising funds for
the charity. This includes investment management fees, staff costs associated with
fundraising, the costs associated with fundraising trading activity and an allocation of
support costs.



Expenditure on charitable activities includes all costs associated with furthering the
charitable purposes of the charity through the provision of its charitable activities. Such
costs include grants and awards made for research and direct and support costs in
respect to education and awareness including governance costs.



Grants payable by the charity are included in the statement of financial activities when
approved and when the intended recipient has either received the funds or been
informed of the decision to make the grant and has satisfied all performance conditions.
Grants approved but not paid at the end of the financial year are accrued. Grants where
the beneficiary has not been informed or has to fulfil performance conditions before the
grant is released are not accrued for but are disclosed as financial commitments in the
notes to the financial statements.
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Expenditure recognition (continued)


The provision of a multi-year grant is recognised at its present value where settlement is
due over more than one year from the date of the award, there are no unfulfilled
performance conditions under the control of the charity that would permit the charity to
avoid making the future payments, settlement is probable and the effect of the
discounting is material. The discount rate used is the average rate of investment yield in
the year in which the grant is made. This discount rate is regarded by the trustees as
providing the most current available estimate of the opportunity cost of money reflecting
the time value of money to the charity.

All expenditure is stated inclusive of irrecoverable VAT.

Allocation of support and governance costs
Support costs represent indirect charitable expenditure. In order to carry out the primary
purposes of the charity it is necessary to provide support in the form of personnel
development, financial procedures, provision of office services and equipment and a suitable
working environment.
Governance costs comprise the costs involving the public accountability of the charity
(including audit costs) and costs in respect to its compliance with regulation and good
practice.
Support costs, including staff related costs, and governance costs are apportioned based on
the staff time spent on each activity.

Tangible fixed assets
All assets costing more than £500 and with an expected useful life exceeding one year are
capitalised.
Tangible fixed assets are capitalised and depreciated at the following annual rates in order
to write them off over their estimated useful lives:


Leasehold land buildings

Over the life of the lease



Computer software and equipment

33.3% per annum based on cost



Fixtures, fittings and equipment

15% per annum based on cost
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Fixed asset investments
Listed investments are a form of basic financial instrument and are initially recognised at
their transaction value and subsequently measured at their fair value as at the balance sheet
date using the closing quoted market price.
The charity does not acquire put options, derivatives or other complex financial instruments.
As noted above the main form of financial risk faced by the charity is that of volatility in
equity markets and investment markets due to wider economic conditions, the attitude of
investors to investment risk, and changes in sentiment concerning equities and within
particular sectors or sub sectors.
Realised gains (or losses) on investment assets are calculated as the difference between
disposal proceeds and their opening carrying value or their purchase value if acquired
subsequent to the first day of the financial year. Unrealised gains and losses are calculated
as the difference between the fair value at the year end and their carrying value at that date.
Realised and unrealised investment gains (or losses) are combined in the statement of
financial activities and are credited (or debited) in the year in which they arise.
Investments are included within the current assets where it is anticipated that they may need
to be utilised to meet grant commitments. Investments equating to 50% of grants payable
within one year are therefore included as current assets.

Debtors
Debtors are recognised at their settlement amount, less any provision for non-recoverability.
Prepayments are valued at the amount prepaid. They have been discounted to the present
value of the future cash receipt where such discounting is material.

Cash at bank and in hand
Cash at bank and in hand represents such accounts and instruments that are available on
demand or have a maturity of less than three months from the date of acquisition. Deposits
for more than three months but less than one year have been disclosed as short term
deposits. Cash placed on deposit for more than one year is disclosed as a fixed asset
investment.
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Creditors and provisions
Creditors and provisions are recognised when there is an obligation at the balance sheet
date as a result of a past event, it is probable that a transfer of economic benefit will be
required in settlement, and the amount of the settlement can be estimated reliably. Creditors
and provisions are recognised at the amount the charity anticipates it will pay to settle the
debt. They have been discounted to the present value of the future cash payment where such
discounting is material.

Stocks
Stocks for resale are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Fund accounting
Restricted funds comprise monies raised for, or their use restricted to, a specific purpose, or
contributions subject to donor imposed conditions.
The designated funds are monies or assets set aside out of general funds and designated for
specific purposes by the trustees.
General funds represent those monies which are freely available for application towards
achieving any charitable purpose that falls within the charity’s charitable objects.

Leased assets
Rentals applicable to operating leases where substantially all of the benefits and risks of
ownership remain with the lessor are charged on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Pension costs
The pension charge represents payments to a defined contribution scheme which are
charged to the statement of financial activities in the period to which they relate.
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1 Donations and legacies
Unrestricted
funds
£

Restricted
funds
£

2016
Total
£

2015
Total
£

Donations, gifts and appeals
Legacies
2016 Total funds

3,067,697
2,211,675
5,279,372

—
—
—

3,067,697
2,211,675
5,279,372

3,360,515
3,320,733
6,681,248

2015 Total funds

6,681,248

—

6,681,248

2 Other trading activities
The charity has one wholly owned subsidiary, Kidney Research Enterprises Limited, which is
incorporated in England and Wales. The subsidiary’s principal activity is to undertake
trading and retail activities for the benefit of Kidney Research UK. Kidney Research
Enterprises Limited donates its taxable profit, if any, to Kidney Research UK. A summary of
the subsidiary’s results is shown below. Audited financial statements will be filed with the
Registrar of Companies.

Profit and loss account
Turnover
Expenses
Net profit
Other interest receivable and similar income
Profit on ordinary activities before donation under Gift Aid
Donation under Gift Aid scheme to Kidney Research UK
Profit for the financial year before taxation
Taxation
Profit for the financial year
Accumulated losses at 1 April 2015
Accumulated losses at 31 March 2016

2016
Total
£
1,046,571
(490,793)

2015
Total
£
1,035,104
(604,971)

555,778
63

430,133
57

555,841
(553,021)
2,820
—
2,820
(6,158)

430,190
(429,786)
404
—
404
(6,562)

(3,338)

(6,158)

The shareholder’s funds of the subsidiary at 31 March 2016 were £331,162 (2015 £328,342) (note 13). The trustees are satisfied that the activities of the subsidiary are
essential to the future growth of the charity both for the acquisition of new supporters and
volunteers through the lottery, events and retail products and for obtaining donations, which
are reflected in the financial statements of the charity.
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3 Investment income
Unrestricted
funds
£

Restricted
funds
£

2016
Total
£

2015
Total
£

Income from listed investments
Interest receivable

354,638
21,032

—
—

354,638
21,032

310,271
68,562

2016 Total funds

375,670

—

375,670

378,833

2015 Total funds

378,833

—

378,833

Unrestricted
funds
£

Restricted
funds
£

2016
Total
£

2015
Total
£

93,256
93,256

2,194,301
2,194,301

2,287,557
2,287,557

1,065,140
1,065,140

154,427

910,713

1,065,140

4 Income from charitable activities

Grants receivable
2016 Total funds
2015 Total funds

5 Analysis of total expenditure
Unrestricted
funds 2016
£

Restricted
funds 2016
£

2016 Unrestricted
Total funds 2015
£
£

Restricted
funds 2015
£

2015
Total
£

Cost of raising funds
Cost of raising donations and legacies
Fundraising trading: costs of goods
sold and other costs
Investment management costs

1,731,048

—

1,731,048

1,850,265

—

1,850,265

490,793

—

490,793

604,391

—

604,391

35,811

—

35,811

32,339

—

32,339

2,257,652

—

2,257,652

2,486,997

—

2,486,997

Research

4,398,009

4,379,945

1,439,201

1,364,753

796,862
86,278

5,176,807

1,359,604

1,550,276
79,597

5,948,285

Awareness and education

5,757,613

1,629,873

7,387,486

5,744,698

883,140

6,627,838

8,015,265

1,629,873

9,645,138

8,231,695

883,140

9,114,835

Charitable activities

Total expenditure
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5 Analysis of total expenditure (continued)
Grants
and project
expenditure
£

Allocated
costs
(note 6)
£

2016
Total
£

2015
Total
£

—

1,731,048

1,731,048

1,850,265

—
—

490,793
35,811

490,793
35,811

604,391

—

2,257,652

2,257,652

2,486,997

5,549,107
114,043

398,952
1,325,384

5,948,059
1,439,427

5,176,807
1,451,031

5,663,150

1,724,336

7,387,486

6,627,838

2016 Total funds

5,663,150

3,981,988

9,645,138

9,114,835

2015 Total funds

4,965,543

4,149,292

9,114,835

Cost of raising funds
Cost of raising donations and legacies
Fundraising trading: costs of goods sold and
other costs
Investment management costs

Charitable activities
Research
Awareness and education

32,339

Included within total expenditure are governance costs for the year ended 31 March 2016 of
£105,055 (2015 - £110,739) including audit fees.

6 Allocated costs
The following cost categories have been allocated across the charity’s activities on the basis
of staff time spent on each activity.
Cost of raising funds

Charitable activities

Cost of
Investment
raising Fundraising management
funds
trading
costs
£
£
£
CEO/Human
resources
Finance & IT
Relationship
fundraising
Development
fundraising &
research operations
Direct
marketing/public
relations
Governance
Total
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Research
£

Awareness Governance
£
£

2016
Total
£

70,030

—

11,671

93,373

58,358

37,524

270,956

537,190
290,764

130,675
181,910

24,140
—

40,233
2,445

72,419
205,462

55,652
337

860,309
680,918

89,226

—

—

177,978

41,131

6,717

315,052

743,838

178,208

—

6,132

921,750

4,825

1,854,753

1,731,048

490,793
—
490,793

35,811
—
35,811

320,161
78,791
398,952

1,299,120
26,264
1,325,384

105,055
(105,055)
—

3,981,988
—
3,981,988

—

1,731,048
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7 Grants payable
The charity makes grants to both individuals and institutions in accordance with its grant
making policy set out in the trustees’ report. A detailed breakdown of grants awarded is
provided in note 24 to the financial statements.
A reconciliation of the grants payable and grants commitments figures shown in these
financial statements is as follows:
2016
£
Grant commitments at 1 April 2015
Commitments made in the year (note 24)
Adjustments and lapsed grant commitments

2016
£

2015
£

9,147,433
5,549,107
(94,224)

2015
£
7,681,926

4,867,757
(102,600)

Grants payable
Grants paid during the year

5,454,883
(3,429,188)

Commitments at 31 March 2016

11,173,128

9,147,433

7,540,597
3,632,531

6,155,552
2,991,881

11,173,128

9,147,433

Commitments at 31 March are payable as
follows:
Within one year (note 16)
After more than one year (note 17)

4,765,157
(3,299,650)

8 Net income (expenditure) for the year
This is stated after charging:

Staff costs (note 9)
Auditors’ remuneration
. Statutory audit services
. Other services
Depreciation
Irrecoverable VAT
Operating Lease Rentals
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Unrestricted
funds
£

Restricted
funds
£

2016
Total
£

2015
Total
£

1,792,433

—

1,792,433

1,653,931

17,750
3,050
81,549
184,525
224,768

—
—
—
—
—

17,750
3,050
81,549
184,525
224,768

17,450
3,450
66,387
237,621
190,928
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9 Employment costs
Employment costs during the year were as follows:

Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Other pension costs and salary sacrifice

2016
£

2015
£

1,506,690
142,514
143,229

1,403,420
132,403
118,108

1,792,433

1,653,931

The increase in employment costs arises from two additional roles created, and from
securing cover for the significant level of maternity leave during the year.
The average number of employees and average full-time equivalent during the year, analysed
by time expended on the following activities, was as follows:

Generation of funds
Charitable activities
. Research
. Awareness and education
Governance

Ave
Headcount
2016
Number

Ave
Headcount
2015
Number

Ave
FTE
2016
Number

Ave
FTE
2015
Number

31

31

25

25

6
20
1

6
16
1

5
18
1

6
14
1

58

54

49

46

The number of employees who earned £60,000 or more (including taxable benefits but
excluding employer pension contributions) during the year was as follows:

£60,000 - £70,000
£70,000 - £80,000
£100,001 - £110,000

2016
Number

2015
Number

1
2
1

3
0
1

During the year, pension costs totalling £20,292 (2015 - £19,912) were paid in respect of
the above employees. Any additional pension contributions made under salary sacrifice
arrangements are included in the salary bandings above.
The key management personnel of the charity in charge of directing and controlling, running
and operating the charity on a day to day basis comprise the trustees and the Senior
Management Team (see page 28). The total remuneration (including taxable benefits but
excluding employer's pension contributions) of the key management personnel for the
year was £462,120 (2015 - £450,293).
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10 Trustees’ expenses and remuneration
None of the trustees received remuneration in respect of their services as trustees during
either year.
In the year ended 31 March 2016 one trustee received £6,600 (2015 - £1,080) remuneration
for her services as Patient Lead in the Patient Project Team of the ASSIST-CKD project. At 31
March 2016, payment of the £600 was outstanding (2015 - £1,080).
During the year ended 31 March 2016 out of pocket travelling expenses amounting to
£5,097 (2015 - £5,646) were reimbursed to 9 (2015 – 8) trustees. During the year the Chief
Executive was reimbursed expenses totalling £1,219 (2015 - £1,273).
In accordance with normal commercial practice, the charity has purchased insurance to
protect trustees from claims arising from negligent acts, errors or omissions occurring whilst
on charity business. The insurance policy provides cover up to £1 million (2015 - £1 million)
and the cost for the year ended 31 March 2016 was £1,436 (2015 - £1,431).

11 Taxation
Kidney Research UK is a registered charity and therefore is not liable to income tax or
corporation tax on income derived from its charitable activities, as it falls within the various
exemptions available to registered charities.
The subsidiary, Kidney Research Enterprises Limited, donates its taxable profits, if any, to
Kidney Research UK each year (note 2).

12 Tangible fixed assets
Leasehold
land and
buildings
£

Computer
software &
equipment
£

Fixtures,
fittings &
equipment
£

Total
£

Cost
At 1 April 2015
Additions

268,451
—

349,984
27,927

47,850
—

666,285
27,927

At 31 March 2016

268,451

377,911

47,850

694,212

Depreciation
At 1 April 2015
Charge for year

182,975
31,880

264,416
48,475

42,897
1,194

490,288
81,549

At 31 March 2016

214,855

312,891

44,091

571,837

Group

Net book values
At 31 March 2016

53,596

65,020

3,759

122,375

At 31 March 2015

85,476

85,568

4,953

175,997
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12 Tangible fixed assets (continued)
Leasehold
land and
buildings
£

Computer
software &
equipment
£

Fixtures,
fittings &
equipment
£

Total
£

Cost
At 1 April 2015
Additions

211,964
—

277,713
27,927

7,433
—

497,110
27,927

At 31 March 2016

211,964

305,640

7,433

525,037

Depreciation
At 1 April 2015
Charge for year

136,588
27,409

192,143
48,473

3,831
925

332,562
76,807

At 31 March 2016

163,997

240,616

4,756

409,369

Net book values
At 31 March 2016

47,967

65,024

2,677

115,668

At 31 March 2015

75,376

85,570

3,602

164,548

Charity

13 Investments
Group

2016
£

2015
£

Listed investments
Market value of listed investments at 1 April 2015
Additions at cost
Disposals at book value (proceeds: £2,840,481; realised losses: £206,369)
Net unrealised investment (losses) gains

12,686,444
2,617,332
(3,046,850)
(331,815)

11,926,001
1,653,171
(1,496,486)
603,758

Market value of listed investments at 31 March 2016

11,925,111

12,686,444

1,192,413
790,219

632,460
782,376

13,907,743

14,101,280

10,376,440

10,349,028

2016
£

2015
£

10,137,445
3,770,298

11,023,504
3,077,776

13,907,743

14,101,280

Cash held by investment managers for re-investment
Cash held on deposit

Cost of listed investments at 31 March 2016

Allocated as follows:

Fixed asset investments
Current asset investments
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13 Investments (continued)
Charity
Market value at 1 April 2015
Additions at cost
Disposals at book value (proceeds:
£2,840,481; realised losses: £206,369)

Shares in
subsidiary
Listed
undertaking investments
£
£
150,000
—
—
—

Net unrealised investment (losses) gains
Market value at 31 March 2016
Cash held by investment managers for reinvestment

(3,046,850)
(331,815)

Total
2015
£

12,836,444
2,617,332

12,076,001
1,653,171

(3,046,850)
(331,815)

(1,496,486)
603,758

150,000

11,925,111

12,075,111

12,836,444

—
—

1,192,413
790,219

1,192,413
790,219

632,460

150,000

13,907,743

14,057,743

14,251,280

334,500

10,376,440

10,710,940

10,683,528

Cash held on deposit

Cost of investments at 31 March 2016

12,686,444
2,617,332

Total
2016
£

782,376

Allocated as follows:

Fixed asset investments
Current asset investments

2016
£

2015
£

10,287,445
3,770,298

11,173,504
3,077,776

14,057,743

14,251,280

At 31 March 2016 listed investments included the following individual investment holdings
that had a market value of 5% or more of the total value of listed investments.
Market
value
of
holding
£
The Equity Income Trust for Charities
Trojan Income Fund
Majedie UK Equity Fund
Charities Property Fund
Other
Total listed investments

1,991,340
697,235
1,023,360
853,765
7,359,411
11,925,111

Percentage
of overall
portfolio
%
17
6
9
7
61

%
%
%
%
%

100 %

Shares in subsidiary undertaking
At 31 March 2016 Kidney Research UK owned the entire called up ordinary share capital of
334,500 ordinary £1 shares in Kidney Research Enterprises Limited (note 2).
At
31 March 2016, the aggregate of the share capital and reserves of Kidney Research
Enterprises Limited amounted to £327,686 (2015 - £328,342).

Page 51

Annual Report and Financial Statements – March 2016
Notes to the financial statements 31 March 2016
14 Stocks
Group
Merchandise for resale

2016
£

2015
£

44,394

36,171

At 31 March 2016, the Charity did not hold any merchandise (2015 - £nil).

15 Debtors
Group
Taxation recoverable
Legacies receivable
Trade debtors
Other debtors
Prepayments and accrued income

Charity
Taxation recoverable
Legacies receivable
Trade debtors
Other debtors
Prepayments and accrued income
Amount owed by subsidiary undertaking (note 2)

2016
£

2015
£

68,866
2,069,260
426,628
1,653,959
72,615

72,489
3,097,732
349,019
1,025,521
38,771

4,291,328

4,583,532

2016
£

2015
£

62,721
2,069,260
387,114
1,653,959
238
32,992

62,783
3,097,732
281,237
1,025,521
1,284
—

4,206,284

4,468,557

Included within other debtors is a total of £514,476 (2015 - £182,173) which relates to grant
debtors receivable after one year.

16 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
Group
Expense creditors
Social security and other taxation
Grants payable (note 7)
Other creditors
Accruals and deferred income
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2016
£

2015
£

95,011
39,967
7,540,597
183,839
86,433

136,913
38,160
6,155,552
222,526
129,030

7,945,847

6,682,181
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16 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year (continued)
2016
£

2015
£

—
758
39,967
7,540,597
183,839
47,794

238,316
4,344
38,160
6,155,552
222,526
42,426

7,812,955

6,701,324

Charity
Amount owed to subsidiary undertaking (note 2)
Expense creditors
Social security and other taxation
Grants payable (note 7)
Other creditors
Accruals and deferred income

Included within the above is deferred income as set out below:
2016
£
Deferred income brought forward at 1 April 2015
Additional income deferred during the year
Brought forward funds released in the year
Deferred income carried forward at 31 March 2016

10,381
2,575
(10,381)
2,575

17 Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year
Group and Charity
Grants payable (note 7)
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2016
£

2015
£

3,632,531

2,991,881
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18 Restricted funds
The income funds of the charity include restricted funds comprising the following donations
and grants to be applied for specific purposes:
At
1 April
2015
£

Incoming
resources
£

Expenditure
/transfers
& grants
committed
£

At
31 March
2016
£

Interrogating basement membrane to
understand Alport Syndrome
. Action for Alports Campaign

(76,315)

27,150

788

(49,953)

Restricted funds in deficit

(76,315)

27,150

788

(49,953)

Proactive IV Iron Therapy in Dialysis Patients
Trial (PIVOTAL)
. Vifor Inc

—

722,642

722,642

—

eGFR graphs for early identification of chronic
kidney disease (ASSIST-CKD)
. Health Foundation

—

212,870

212,870

—

38,009

—

—

38,009

6,500

—

6,500

—

—

18,778

1,367

17,411

27,959

2,500

22,663

7,796

—

9,758

9,758

—

72,468

966,548

975,800

63,216

FSGS Studies:
-Mechanisms of podocyte damage
-*TRPC6 inhibitors for treatment of FSGS
mutations
. Mrs Watters
The effects of dialysis methods on children
. Fresenius GmBH
Alumni Programme 2015
. Chiesi

—

Fellows’ Day 2016/Alumni Programme 2016
5,000
. Fresenius
. Astellas

7,000

. Otsuka Pharmaceutical

5,000

. Astrazenica
. Others

931
847
18,778

Total
Fellows’ Day 2015/Alumni Programme 2015-16
Income include:
. Irwin Mitchell Solicitors

2,500
2,500

The Renal Association
. Dr Qasem
Total
Restricted funds in surplus - carried forward
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18 Restricted funds (continued)
At
1 April
2015
£

Incoming
resources
£

Expenditure
/transfers
& grants
committed
£

72,468

966,548

975,800

63,216

—

10,000

10,000

—

—

18,266

18,266

—

—

8,366

8,366

—

14,031

2,894

—

16,925

4,398

34,312

690

38,020

—

65,000

65,000

—

—

8,065

8,065

—

—

500,000

500,000

—

—

500,000

—

500,000

—

45,000

40,000

5,000

. Nottingham Kidney Trust

—

8,275

2,473

5,802

Other
. Various funders

—

425

425

—

Restricted funds in surplus

90,897

2,167,151

1,629,085

628,963

Total restricted funds

14,582

2,194,301

1,629,873

579,010

Restricted funds in surplus -brought forward

At
31 March
2016
£

The Peer Educator Project in the Pakistani
Muslim Community in Birmingham
. Department of Health
Organ Donation Awareness Project
. Scottish Government
Organ Donation and Stem Cell Awareness
Project
. Department of Health
David Kerr Fellowship
. David Kerr Fellowship Campaign
Answers for aHus
. Answers for aHus Campaign
The UK Registry for Rare Kidney disease
(RaDaR), ADPKD Nested Cohort Study
. Otsuka Pharmaceuticals UK Ltd
Baxter Peer Educator
. Baxter Healthcare
First of Three £500,000 Research & Innovation
Grants
.John Feehally / Stoneygate
Garfield Weston
. Garfield Weston
Various Trust Donations
. Grant towards on-going medical research
Nottingham Kidney Trust
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18 Restricted funds (continued)
The above figures represent only the restricted element of grant funding utilised in the year.
Additional amounts may have been reflected as unrestricted income or as deferred income
or may be utilised in previous/future years.
The project entitled ‘Interrogating basement membrane to understand Alport Syndrome’ is
showing as a negative balance because the charity has underwritten this part of the cost
while Action for Alports Campaign completes its fundraising for this project.

19 Designated funds
At
1 April
2015
£
Research and Awareness Fund
Property Fund

New
designations
£

Released/
utilised in
year
£

At
31 March
2016
£

5,013,659
350,720

4,642,800
5,000

(4,807,229)
(2,525)

4,849,230
353,195

5,364,379

4,647,800

(4,809,754)

5,202,425

The Research and Awareness Fund represents monies which have been set aside from
unrestricted funds by the trustees for research project commitments (£4,431,230), raising
awareness of kidney health (£375,000) and engagement with new supporters (£43,000) in
2016/17.
The Research and Awareness Fund includes funds set aside to meet April 2017 awards under
the Make Every Kidney Count Appeal, for research connected with kidney transplantation.
The Property Fund represents monies set aside by the trustees to meet end of lease
expenses most of which will arise in the next two financial years.

20 Analysis of net assets between funds
Group
Fund balances at 31 March 2016
are represented by:
Tangible fixed assets
Fixed asset investments
Current assets
Creditors: amounts falling
due within one year
Creditors: amounts falling after one year
Total net assets
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Unrestricted
funds
£

Restricted
funds
£

Total
2016
£

122,375
10,137,445
7,346,055

—
—

3,205,111

122,375
10,137,445
10,551,166

(5,890,974)
(3,061,303)

(2,054,873)
(571,228)

(7,945,847)
(3,632,531)

8,653,598

579,010

9,232,608
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20 Analysis of net assets between funds (continued)
The total unrealised gains as at 31 March 2016 constitute movements on revaluation and are
as follows:
2016
£
Unrealised gains included above:
On tangible fixed assets
On investments
Total unrealised gains at 31 March 2016

2015
£

—

—

1,548,671
1,548,671

2,337,416
2,337,416

Add: net (losses) gains arising on revaluation arising in the year

2,337,416
(456,930)
1,880,486
(331,815)

2,179,173
(445,515)
1,733,658
603,758

Total unrealised gains at 31 March 2016

1,548,671

2,337,416

Unrestricted
funds
£

Restricted
funds
£

Total
2016
£

115,668
10,287,445
6,888,709

—
—

3,205,111

115,668
10,287,445
10,093,820

(5,758,082)
(3,061,303)
8,472,437

(2,054,873)
(571,228)
579,010

(7,812,955)
(3,632,531)
9,051,447

Reconciliation of movements in unrealised gains
Unrealised gains at 1 April 2015
Less: in respect to disposals in the year

Charity
Fund balances at 31 March 2016
are represented by:
Tangible fixed assets
Fixed asset investments
Current assets
Creditors: amounts falling
due within one year
Creditors: amounts falling after one year
Total net assets

The total unrealised gains as at 31 March 2016 constitute movements on revaluation and are
as follows:
2016
£
Unrealised gains included above:
On tangible fixed assets
On investments
Total unrealised gains at 31 March 2016
Reconciliation of movements in unrealised gains
Unrealised gains at 1 April 2015
Less: in respect to disposals in the year

2015
£

—

—

1,364,171
1,364,171

2,152,916
2,152,916

Add: net (losses) gains arising on revaluation arising in the year

2,152,916 1,994,673
(456,930)
(445,515)
1,695,986 1,549,158
(331,815)
603,758

Total unrealised gains at 31 March 2016

1,364,171
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21 Operating leases
At 31 March 2016 the charity had future minimum commitments under non-cancellable
operating leases as follows:

Group
Operating lease payments which falls due:
Within one year
Between two and five years
Thereafter

Land and buildings
2016
2015
£
£
222,684
226,263
120,000

217,445
418,947
150,000

568,947

786,392

Land and buildings
Charity
Operating lease payments which falls due:
Within one year
Between two and five years
Thereafter

2016
£

2015
£

136,234
106,263
—

130,995
242,497
—

242,497

373,492

22 Liability of members
The Charity is constituted as a company limited by guarantee. In the event of the charity
being wound up members are required to contribute an amount not exceeding £1.

23 Pensions
The charitable company operates a defined contribution pension scheme. During the year
contributions totalling £143,229 (2015 - £118,108) were made, with £13,430 (2015 £11,007) payable at the year end.
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24 Grants awarded
Researcher

Institution

Project title

£

Term

1

Professor
Macdougall

Kings College Hospital

UK
multicentre
open-label
randomised
controlled trial of IV iron supplementation in
incident haemodialysis patients (Proactive IV
iron therapy
in haemodialysis
patients
(PIVOTAL) Trial)

224,266

1 year

2

PIVOTAL sites

UK centres*

Nurse support for UK centres participating in
the PIVOTAL trial

396,250

1 year

3

Ms M Tsikkini

Kings College-EPAC

PIVOTAL
Hospital

College

85,140

3 years

4

Dr M Bailey

University of Edinburgh* The role of endothelin-1 in the renal handling
of salt in diabetic mellitus

3,000

3 years

5

DR Frd Tam

Imperial College London Spleen tyrosine kinase (SYK): a novel
therapeutic target in antibody-mediated renal
allograft rejection

414,000

3 years

6

Dr N MedjeralThomas

Imperial College, London Defining the contribution of complement to
kidney injury in IgA nephropathy

237,245

3 years

7

Dr E Watson

University of Leicester*

Mechanism of muscle wasting in Advanced
Chronic Kidney Disease

200,960

3 years

8

Dr A Raby

University of Cardiff

Evaluating the involvement, prognostic and
therapeutic value of Toll-like receptors in
peritoneal
dialysis-associated
sterile
inflammation and fibrosis

191,168

3 years

9

Dr R Major

Leicester General
Hospital*

Predicting Cardiovascular
chronic kidney disease

in

219,622

3 years

10

Dr M Findlay

University of Glasgow

Understanding and reducing the risk of
cerebrovascular disease in patients with end
stage renal disease; from the patient to the
population

144,295

2 years

11

Dr M Fragiadaki

University of Sheffield

Investigating the role of MASK as a novel
regulator of the JAK-STAT pathway in autosomal
dominant polycystic kidney disease

141,690

2 years

Carried forward

Page 59

support

contract

King's

disease

risk

2,257,636

Annual Report and Financial Statements – March 2016
Notes to the financial statements 31 March 2016
24 Grants awarded (continued)
Researcher

Institution

Project title

Brought forward

£

Term

2,257,636

12

Dr W Ding

University of Bristol

Investigating Adeno-Associated virus as a
vector for gene therapy for Steroid-Resistant
nephrotic syndrome

186,283

3 years

13

Dr R Lennon

University of
Manchester*

Autoantibody inhibition with peptides as a
novel targeted therapy for autoimmune
membranous nephropathy

61,503

3 years

14

Dr A Qasem

Kings College, London

ISN/RA – clinical & research training

15

Dr P Okyere

Queen Elizabeth
Hospital, Birmingham

16

Mr S Mezher

17

9,375

1 year

ISN/Kidney Research UK – clinical & research
training

18,750

1 year

University of
Manchester*

Using stem cells to treat chronic kidney
disease: a preclinical study

5,000

1 year

Mr J Todd

University of Newcastle*

How renal epithelial cells affect T lymphocyte
function and the development of renal fibrosis

5,000

1 year

18

Mr S Singh

University of Bristol

Using proteomics to understand the early
glomerular protein changes in diabetic
nephropathy

5,000

1 year

19

Miss G Harridge

University of Bristol

Increase the understanding of how INF2
mutations lead to impairment of podocyte
cellular function in FSGS

5,000

1 year

20

Mr A Goodliff

University of Bristol

Mechanisms of TRPC6 (transient receptor
potential channel) associated podocyte damage

5,000

1 year

21

Mr A Hollis

University of
Birmingham

Unlocking the metabolism of the kidney prior
to transplantation

5,000

1 year

22

Mr D Jafree

University College,
London

Origin of renal tract abnormalities in spina
bifida

5,000

1 year

23

Miss F JacksonSpence

University of
Birmingham

Renal cancer risk after kidney transplantation in
England

5,000

1 year

24

Ms S J Weller

Kings College, London

The role of leukocytes in acute kidney injury
(AKI): Mapping the human immune phenotype

5,000

1 year

25

Miss A Avrova

University of
Manchester*

Identification of biological therapies for a
peritoneal
dialysis
complication
EPS
(Encapsulating Peritoneal Sclerosis)

5,000

1 year

Carried forward
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24 Grants awarded (continued)
Researcher

Institution

Project title

Brought forward

£

Term

2,583,547

26

Miss S Tahir

University Hospital,
Birmingham

27

Dr E
Vasilopoulou

University College,
London

28

Dr K Gallagher

29

Exploring South Asian kidney allograft patient
outcomes in a population-based cohort analysis
across England
Regulation of inflammation in glomerular
disease by thymosin-B4; a novel treatment for
patients with renal disease

5,000

1 year

200,631

3 years

University of Edinburgh* Joint MRC Fellowship: RIP1 kinase inhibition to
reduce kidney injury (GSK Tripartite)

56,091

3 years

Dr A Barton

Royal Cornall Hospitals
NHS Trust

QI Project: ASSIST-CKD Lab: Royal Cornwall
Hospitals NHS

10,000

1 year

30

Dr R Stott

Doncaster and Bassetlaw QI Project: ASSIST-CKD Lab: Doncaster and
Hospitals NHS Trust
Bassetlaw Hospitals

10,000

1 year

31

Dr M Leonard

Wirral University
Teaching Hospital NHS
Trust

QI Project: ASSIST-CKD Lab: Wirral University
Teaching Hospitals

10,000

1 year

32

Dr L Bailey

Royal Liverpool
University Hospital

QI Project: ASSIST-CKD Lab: Liverpool Clinical
Labs, Royal Liverpool Hospital

10,000

1 year

33

Dr N Leonard

South Eastern Health
and Social Care Trust

QI Project: ASSIST-CKD Lab: South Eastern
Hospital & Social Care Trust

10,000

1 year

34

Dr P Harnett

Southend University
Teaching Hospital NHS
Trust

QI Project: ASSIST-CKD Lab: Southend University
Hospital

10,000

1 year

35

Dr D Powell

St Helen's and Knowsley
NHS Trust

QI Project: ASSIST-CKD Lab: St Helen's and
Knowsley NHS Trust

10,000

1 year

36

Dr E Gishkori

Southern Health and
Social Care Trust

QI Project: ASSIST-CKD Lab: Southern Health &
Social Care Trust

10,000

1 year

37

Prof P Brenchley

University of
Manchester*

Blocking
PLA2R
receptor
activation
on
podocytes with soluble epitope peptide can
modulate the pathological effects of antiPLA2R: a new therapy for preventing relapse in
membranous nephropathy.

198,359

2 years

38

Prof J Mullins

University of Edinburgh* The mechanism of JG cell granulation in vivo

39

Dr P Hartley

University of
Bournemouth*

Using the fruit fly Drosophila to understand
podocyte biology In diabetic nephropathy - a
pilot study

35,900

1 year

40

Dr S Satchell

University of Bristol

Harnessing the power of transgenic technology
to define the role of the glomerular
endothelium in health and kidney disease

40,000

1 year

Carried forward

Page 61

125,471

3,324,999

2 years

Annual Report and Financial Statements – March 2016
Notes to the financial statements 31 March 2016
24 Grants awarded (continued)
Researcher

Institution

Project title

£

Brought forward

Term

3,324,999

41

Dr K Marchbank

University of Newcastle*

Pre-clinical evaluation of mini-FH derivatives to
treat C3G

131,345 2 years

42

Dr B Conway

University of Edinburgh* Identification, molecular profiling and targeting
of persistent fibroblast infiltration to promote
the resolution of renal scarring

188,109 2 years

43

Dr X Ruan

University College,
London

Defining a novel pathway for tubulointerstitial
fibrosis mediated by the fatty acids transporter
CD36

199,211 3 years

44

Dr J Marks

University College,
London

Involvement of GLUT2, SGLT1 and renal sweet
taste receptors in the upregulation of glucose
transport in type 2 diabetes

181,817 2 years

45

Prof F Karet

University of
Cambridge*

Silencing mutant genotype in uromodulinassociated nephropathy: a feasibility and proofof-principle pilot study

77,412 1 years

46

Dr D Long

University College,
London

Investigating the role of angiopoietin-2 in
vascular calcification

191,801 3 years

47

Prof P Roderick

University of
Southampton

Is chronic kidney disease prevalence changing
in adults over time in England: findings from
the Health Surveys for England 2003-2016

91,613 3 years

48

Prof P Kalra

Salford Royal Hospital

Computerised electrocardiography
Prediction in haemodialysis patients

Risk

38,934 1 year

49

Dr R Saeed

Royal Free Hospital and
UCL Medical School

ISN/Kidney Research UK – clinical & research
training

19,700 1 year

50

Dr M Robson

Kings College, London

The role of VISTA in glomerulonephritis

199,867 2 years

51

Dr N Selby

Royal Derby Hospital

Can biomarker strategies identify patients at
high risk of adverse outcomes following an
episode of acute kidney injury?

107,351 1 year

52

Dr S Satchell

University of Bristol

MMP-mediated SDC4 loss from the endothelial
glycocalyx as a therapeutic target in diabetic
nephropathy

234,739 3 years

53

Dr T Page

Imperial College, London Understanding the effects of polymeric IgA
from IgA Nephropathy patients on human
macrophages

54

Dr I Pawluczyk

University of Leicester*

Identification of a serum microRNA signature
for use as a biomarker to predict progression of
IgA Nephropathy

55

Dr G Welsh

University of Bristol

Role of INF2 mutations in the pathogenesis of
FSGS

Carried forward
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24 Grants awarded (continued)
Researcher

Institution

Project title

£

Brought forward

Term

5,202,391

56

Dr Danny Gale

University College,
London

Genetic determinants of IgA1 O-glycosylation in
humans

149,768

2 years

57

Dr Hatty
Douthwaite

Medical Research
Council

Can differences in Th1 IFNg-to-IL-10 cytokine
switching mediated by CD46 predict functional
outcome after renal transplantation?

56,260

3 years

58

Dr Fergus
Caskey

UK Renal Registry, Bristol Analysis work on ASSIST-CKD Project

27,688

1 year

59

Dr D Long

UCL Institute of Child
Health

1,500

1 year

60

Dr A Egan

Clinical
Royal Society of Medicine ADPKD
Therapies Meeting

New

1,500

1 year

61

Professor Albert
Ong

c/o UK Renal Registry.
Bristol

Autosomal Dominant Polycystic Kidney Disease
(ADPKD) Register – further development

65,000

1 year

62

Dr Michael
Cassidy

East Midlands Clinical
Network (Nottingham)

Additional Sites on the ASSIST-CKD Study

45,000

1 year

European Nephrogenesis Workshop

Management

and

5,549,107

*Denotes grant made to a trustee or an institution with which they are related.
Abbreviations and Acronyms:
ISN: International Society of Nephrology
RA: Renal Association
MRC: Medical Research Council

25 Related Party Transactions
During the year donations of £4,185 (2014/15 £2,630) were received from trustees.
Grants awarded to a trustee or an institution with which they are related are highlighted in
note 24 by way of * against grants awarded.
There were no other related party transactions in the year which require disclosure
(2014/2015 - none).
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